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PERISHABLE AGRICULTURAL COMMODITIES ACT

MISCELLANEOUS ORDERS

In re: HAVANA POTATOES OF NEW YORK CORP., and HAVPO, INC.

PACA Docket No. D-94-0560.

Order Denying Petition for Reconsideration filed February 4, 1997.

Burden of proof-- Standardof proof- Preponderance of the evidence -- Substantial evidence
-- Considerationof the whole record-- Hearsay documents preparedin anticipationof litigation.

The JudicialOfficerdeniedRespondents'Petitionto Reconsider. Complainant,as proponentof an order,
bears the burden of proof. Complainant not only met its burden of proof, but also met the burden of
persuasion by a preponderance of the evidence. Complainant introduced substantial evidence of
Respondents'willful,flagrant,and repeatedviolationsofsection 2(4) ofthe PACA,(7 U.S.C. §499b(4)).
Hearsaydocumentsprepared inanticipationof litigationare admissible,and underthe circumstances,have
probative value. Testimonyregarding admissionsof Respondents'presidentis entitledto considerable
weight. The wholerecord wasconsideredprior tothe issuanceofthe Decisionand Order and imposition
of the sanctions.

AndrewY. Stanton,for Complainant.
Tab K. Rosenfeld,New York, N-Y,for Respondents.
Initial decisionissuedbyEdwin S.Bernstein,AdministrativeLaw Judge.
Order issued by WilliamG. Jenson, Judicial @fleer.

The Deputy Director, Fruit and Vegetable Division, Agricultural Marketing
Service, United States Department of Agriculture (hereinafter Complainant),

instituted this proceeding under the Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act,
1930, as amended (hereinafter PACA), (7 U.S.C. §§ 499a-499s); the regulations

promulgated pursuant to the PACA, (7 C.F.R. §§ 46.1-.48); and the Rules of

Practice Governing Formal Adjudicatory Proceedings Instituted by the Secretary

(hereinafter Rules of Practice), (7 C.F.R. § 1.130 -. 151), by filing a Complaint on

August 1, 1994.

The Complaint alleges that, during the period February 1993 through January

1994, Respondent Havana Potatoes of New York Corp. (hereinafter Havana)

violated section 2(4) of the PACA, (7 U.S.C. § 499b(4)), by failing to make full

payment promptly to 66 sellers of the agreed purchase prices for 345 lots of

perishable agricultural commodities in the total amount of $1,960,958.74, which

Havana purchased, received, and accepted in interstate and foreign commerce and

that, during the period August 1993 through December 1993, Respondent Havpo,

Inc. (hereinafter Havpo), violated section 2(4) of the PACA, (7 U.S.C. § 499b(4)),

by failing to make full payment promptly to six sellers of the agreed purchase

prices for 23 lots of perishable agricultural commodities in the total amount of
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$101,577.50, which Havpo purchased, received, and accepted in interstate
commerce. Respondentsfiled Answers on August 17, 1994, in which they denied
violating the PACA.

On May 2, 1995, and May 3, 1995, Administrative Law Judge Edwin S.
Bernstein (hereinafter ALJ) presided over a hearing. Julie Cook, Esq., Office of
the General Counsel, United States Department of Agriculture, represented
Complainant, and Tab K. Rosenfeld, Esq., of New York, New York, represented
Respondents. The ALJ issued an Initial Decision and Order on October 19, 1995,
in which he found that Respondents committed willful, flagrant, and repeated
violations of section 2(4) of the PACA, (7 U.S.C. § 499b(4)), and revoked
Respondent Havana's PACA license and Respondent Havpo's PACA license.
(Initial Decision and Order at 5, 17.)

On February 20, 1996, Respondents appealed to the Judicial Officer to whom
the Secretary of Agriculture has delegated final administrative authority to decide
the Department's adjudicatory proceedings subject to 5 U.S.C. §§ 556 and 557.
(7 C.F.R. § 2.35.) On March 18, 1996, Complainant responded to Respondents'
appeal, and on March 19, 1996, the case was referred to the Judicial Officer for
decision.

On November 15, 1996, I issued a'Decision and Order adopting the ALJ's
Initial Decision and Order. On January 2, 1997, Respondents filed a Petition to
Reconsider Decision of the Judicial Officer (hereinafter Respondents' Petition for
Reconsideration), and on January 16, 1997, Complainant filed Complainant's
Response to Respondents' Petition to Reconsider Decision of the Judicial Officer
(hereinafter Complainant's Response). On January 17, 1997, the case was referred
to the Judicial Officer for reconsideration.

Respondents raise six issues in Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration. I
do not find that Respondents have raised any issue in Respondents' Petition for
Reconsideration that warrants my granting Respondents' Petition for
Reconsideration or in any way modifying the Decision and Order filed November
15, 1996, In re Havana Potatoes of New York Corp., 55 Agric. Dec. __ (Nov. 15,
1996).

First, Respondents contend that:

2 .... [C]omplainant failed to satisfy its burden of proving the
elements of the alleged violations by substantial evidence.

Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration at 1-2.
I disagree with Respondents.
The Administrative Procedure Act provides, with respect to substantial



HAVANA POTATOES OF NEW YORK CORP., and HAVPO, INC. 1019
56 Agric.Dec.1017

evidence, that:

§ 556. Hearings; presiding employees; powers and duties; burden of
proof; evidence; record as basis of decision

(d) ... A sanction may not be imposed or rule or order issued except
on consideration of the whole record or those parts thereof cited by a

party and supported by and in accordance with the reliable, probative,
and substantial evidence.

5 U.S.C. § 556(d). (Emphasis added.)
"Substantial evidence" denotes qaantity, 1and it is generally defined as such

relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a

conclusion. 2 Complainant introduced a large number of sellers' invoices.obtained
from Respondents' accounts payable files and summaries of amounts unpaid and
past-due and called three witnesses who gave extensive testimony regarding their
review of Respondents' business records, discussions with Respondents' president
and Respondent Havana's controllers regarding the Respondents' failures to pay
produce sellers in accordance with the PACA, and conclusions drawn from the
review of Respondents' business records and discussions with Respondents'
president and Respondent Havana's controllers. As fully discussed in the Decision
and Order filed November 15, 1996, I find the evidence introduced by

Complainant substantial evidence of Respondents' violations of section 2(4) of the
PACA, (7 U.S.C. § 499b(4)), and Respondents have not raised any issue in

Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration that would cause me to reconsider my
finding that Complainant introduced substantial evidence of Respondents'
violations of the PACA.

1Steadman v. SEC, 450 U.S. 91, 98 ( 19S 1); Wall Street West, lnc. v. SEC, 718 F.2d 973, 974 (10th

Cir. 1983); Baumler v. State Farm MutualAutomobile Ins. Co., 493 F.2d 130, 134 n.8 (9th Cir. 1974).

2Richardson v. Perales, 402 U.S. 389, 401 (1971); Consolo v. FederalMaritime Comm'n, 383 U.S.

607, 619-20 (1966); Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 477 (1951); NLRB v. Columbian

Enameling & Stamping Co., 306 U.S. 292, 300 (1939); Consolidated Edison Co. v. NLRB, 305 U.S. 197,
229 (1938); Diaz v. Shalala, 59 F.3d 307, 314 (2d Cir. 1995); NLRB v. Solid Waste Services, lnc., 38
F.3d 93, 94 (2d Cir. 1994) (per curiam); Seidman v. Office of ThriflSupervision, 37 F.3d 911,924 (3d
Cir. 1994).
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Second, Respondents contend that:

15. The JO further erred when he impermissibly shifted the burden
of proof to Havana and Havpo, even though complainant utterly failed to
prove its case. It was complainant's burden to prove the elements of the
alleged violations; i.e., inter alia, agreed upon price, delivery to and
acceptance by Havana, including date of acceptance, ,etc.
Notwithstanding that the burden falls on complainant, the JO,
nevertheless, asserted that "while it is possible that any given produce

supplier invoice may be inaccurate, respondents have not introduced any
evidence to show that any of respondents' produce supplier invoices in
question are inaccurate." Decision at 32.

Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration at 10.
I agree with Respondents that Complainant has the burden of proof in this

proceeding. However, I disagree with Respondents' contention that the sentence
from In re Havana Potatoes Corp. of New York, supra, slip pp. at 32, quoted in
Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration at 10, "shifted the burden of proof to
Ha_eana and Havpo."

The Administrative Procedure Act provides, with respect to burden of proof,
that:

§ 556. Hearings; presiding employees; powers and duties; burden of
proof; evidence; record as basis of decision

(d) Except as otherwise provided by statute, the proponent of a rule
or order has the burden of proof. ....

5 U.S.C. § 556(d). (Emphasis added.)
Complainant, as proponent of an order in this proceeding, has the burden of

proof. Complainant, therefore, bears the initial burden of coming forward with
evidence sufficient for a prima facie case) The burden of proof does not, however,

3NLRB v. Transportation Management Corp., 462 U.S. 393, 403 n.7 (1983); Hazardous Waste

Treatment Council v. EPA, 886 F.2d 355, 366 (D.C. Cir. 1989), cert. denied sub nora. American
Petroleum Institute v. EPA, 498 U.S. 849 (1990); Bosma v. United States Dep't ofAgric., 754 F.2d 804,

810 (9th Cir. 1984); EnvironmentalDefense Fund, lnc. v. EPA, 548 F.2d 998, 1004 (D.C. Cir. 1976),
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require Complainant to disprove each of Respondents' assertions or theories of the
case.

The standard of proof applicable to adjudicatory proceedings under the
Administrative Procedure Act is the preponderance of the evidence standard, 4and
it has long been held that the standard of proof in administrative disciplinary
proceedings conducted under the PACA is preponderance of the evidence. 5

As fully explained in the Decision and Order filed November 15, 1996,
Complainant not only met its burden of proof by coming forward with a prima
facie case, but also met the burden of persuasion, with respect to all allegations in
the Complaint, by proving each allegation by a preponderance of tile evidence.

The Decision and Order filed November 15, 1996, contains a discussion of
Respondents' theory of the case and Respondents' failure to introduce evidence to
support that theory, as follows:

cert. denied sub nora. Velsicol Chemical Corp. v. EPA, 431 U.S. 925 (1977); NLRB v. Mastro Plastics
Corp., 354 F.2d 170, 176 (2d Cir. 1965), cert. denied, 384 U.S. 972 (1966). See alsoAttorney General's

Manual on the Adminis'trative Procedure Act 75 (1947) ("There is some indication that the term "burden
of proof was not employed in any strict sense, but rather as synonymous with the "burden of going
forward"); 3 Kenneth C. Davis, Administrative Law Treatise § 16.9 (1980 & Supp. 1989) (the burden
allocated by the Administrative Procedure Act is the burden of going forward, not the ultimate burden of
persuasion).

4Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 387-92 (1983); Steadman v. SEC, supra, 450
U.S. at 92-104.

51n re Havana Potatoes of New York Corp., supra, slip op. at 20 n.'2; In re Midland Banana &

Tomato Co., 54 Agric. Dec. 1239, 1269 (1995), aft'd, No. 95-3552 (Sth Cir. Jan. 7, 1997); In re John J.

Conforti, 54 Agric. Dec. 649, 659 (1995), affd inpart & rev'd inpart, 74 F.3d 838 (8th Cir. 1996), cert.
denied, 117 S.Ct. 49 (1996); In re DiCarlo Distributors, lnc., 53 Agric. Dec. 1680, 1704 (1994), appeal
withdrawn, No. 94-4218 (2d Cir. June 21, 1995 ); In re Boss Fruit & Vegetable, lnc., 53 Agric. Dec. 761,
792 (1994), appeal dismissed, No. 94-70408 (9th Cir. Nov. 17, 1994); In re Full SailProduce, lnc., 52

Agric. Dec. 608, 617 (1993); In re LloydMyers Co., 51 Agric. Dec. 747, 757 (1992), aft'd, 15 F.3d 1086,
1994 WL 20019 (9th Cir. 1994) (not to be cited as precedent under 9th Circuit Rule 36-3),printed in 53
Agric. Dec. 686 (1994); In re Tipco, lnc., 50 Agile. Dec. 871,872-73 (1991), affdper curiam, 953 F.2d

639, 1992 WL 14586 (4th Cir.),printedin 51 Agric. Dec. 720 (1992), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 826 (1992);
In re Sid Goodman & Co., 49 Agric. Dec. 1169, 1191-92 (1990), affdper curiam, 945 F.2d 398, 1991
WL 193489 (4th Cir. 1991),printedin 50 Agric. Dec. 1839 (1991), cert. denied, 503 U.S. 970 (1992);

In re Valencia Trading Co., 48 Agric. Dec. 1083, 1091 (1989), appeal dismissed, No. 90-70144 (9th Cir.
May 30, 1990); In re McQueen Brothers Produce Co., 47 Agric. Dec. 1462, 1468 (1988), aft'd, 916 F.2d

715, 1990 WL 157022 (7th Cir. 1990); In re Perfect Potato Packers, Inc., 45 Agric. Dec. 338, 352
(1986); In re Tri-County Wholesale Produce Co., 45 Agdc. Dec. 286, 304 n. 16 (1986), affldper curiam,
822 F.2d 162 (D.C. Cir. 1987), reprinted in 46 Agric. Dec. 1105 (1987).
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Respondents contend that it is possible that the produce supplier
invoices may not mean what they appear to mean, or may have no
meaning at all. (Respondents' Appeal to the Judicial Officer at 5-12, 28-
30.) Specifically, Respondents contend that produce supplier invoices
kept by purchasers of perishable agricultural commodities can contain
inaccuracies, can contain iterations and sumps whose meaning is not
fathomable to any given reviewer, can be generated by persons other than
those whose names appear on the invoices as produce suppliers, and can
even refer to produce that has never been received. However, I find
nothing in the record to indicate that the produce supplier invoices,
which were located in Respondents' files, described by Respondents'
president and Respondent Havana's controllers as the accounts payable
files, are anything other than they appear to be; viz., itemized statements
of perishabre agricultural commodities sold to Respondents by those
identified on the invoices.

Not only is there no evidence that any of Respondents' litany of
possibilities apply to Respondents' produce supplier invoices, but
Respondents' own actions belie their contention that their produce
supplier invoices are inaccurate or meaningless. Respondents' president
confirmed to both Mr. Dutton and Mr. Koller that the produce supplier
invoices represent amounts owed suppliers of perishable agricultural
commodities, and that, generally, the amounts found by Mr. Dutton and
Mr. Koller to be past-due are correct. (Tr. 46, 106-07.) Further,
Mr.Perez discussed with Mr.Dutton the "steps that he[, Mr.Perez,] could
take ... to resolve these problems he was having" and the steps he had
taken to "return his business to a status of being able to pay on a timely
basis." (Tr. 46-47.) Further still, Respondents Stipulated that, by the
time of the hearing, they had paid all of the amounts alleged in
paragraph III of the Complaint to be past-due and identified in produce
supplier invoices obtained from Respondents' files by Mr. Dutton, (Tr.
27; Respondents' Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶ 5).

I find it improbable that Respondent Havana would have paid
$1,960,958.74 and Respondent Havpo would have paid $101,577.50
based on what Respondents contend are inaccurate, unintelligible
produce supplier invoices, which invoices could have been sent to
Respondents by persons that are not identified on the invoices, for
perishable agricultural commodities that had never been delivered to
Respondents. Moreover, Respondents' president, in response to Mr.
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Dntton's findings, "agreed... that the total dollar amounts.., seemed
reasonable in terms of what the company's debt was," and, in response to
Mr. Koller's finding new past-due debt, "acknowledged that the
transactions were past-due and unpaid" and that none of the transactions
were in dispute. (Tr. 46, 106-07.)

While it is possible that any given produce supplier invoice may be
inaccurate, Respondents have not introduced any evidence to show that
any of Respondents' produce supplier invoices in question are inaccurate.
I find nothing in the record to indicate that the produce supplier invoices
are anything other than they appear to be--reliable, probative, and
substantial evidence of past-due debts for perishable agricultural
commodities Respondents purchased, received, and accepted in interstate
and foreign commerce.

In re Havana Potatoes of New York Corp., supra, slip op. at 31-32. This
discussion of Respondents' theory of the case and Respondents' failure to introduce
evidence to support that theory does not, as Respondents assert, shift the burden
of proof to Respondents. Instead, it is a finding that Respondents failed to
introduce reliable, probative, and substantial evidence to prove their theory of the
case and thereby rebut Complainant's evidence.

Third, Respondents contend that:

3 .... [T]he testimony of complainant's witnesses utterly failed to
make out the elements of the charged PACA violations. The extent to
which such testimony was thoroughly impeached, and the sheer

unsubstantiated nature of this testimony, is set forth at length in pages 3 -
12 of Respondents' Appeal[.] . . . It is crucial to note, however, that

complainant's witnesses largely based their testimony on hearsay
documents created in anticipation of litigation; to wit, tablcs of past due
amounts compiled by the witnesses themselves.

Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration at 2.
I disagree with Respondents' contention that Complainant's witnesses were

impeached. I find nothing on this record which indicates that Complainant's
witnesses are not credible.

Further, while some of Complainant's witnesses' testimony isbased on hearsay
documents prepared in anticipation of litigation, most of Complainant's witnesses'
testimony is based on their review of Respondents' business records and
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interviews, which two of Complainant's witnesses had with Respondents' president
and Respondent Havana's controllers. Moreover, the hearsay documents prepared
in anticipation of litigation, (CX 4, 5, 6, 7), are merely summaries of information
obtained from Respondents' records. Copies of Respondents' records upon which
these summaries are based were introduced into evidence, (CX 4a-4ppp, 5a-5f, 6a-

6z, 7a), and a comparison of the summaries to Respondents' records on which the
summaries are based reveals that the summaries are accurate.

Fourth, Respondents contend that:

5.... IT]he Administrative Procedure Act requires.., proof to
amount to "substantial evidence". In this regard, it is settled that all
factors in the record must be weighed and considered, including factors
detracting from complainant's case ....

6 .... [T]he JO failed to consider the plethora of evidence on the
record seriously detracting from complainant's case.

Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration at 3-4.
The Administrative Procedure Act provides:

§ 556. Hearings; presiding employees; powers and duties; burden of
proof; evidence; record as basis of decision

(d) ... A sanction may not be imposed or rule or order issued except
on consideration of the whole record or those parts thereof cited by a

party and supported by and in accordance with the reliable, probative,
and substantial evidence.

5 U.S.C. § 556(d).
I agree with Respondents that a sanction or order may not be issued unless the

whole record or those parts of the record cited by a party and supported by and in
accordance with reliable, probative, and substantial evidence, is first considered.
Further, I find that Respondents clearly cited those parts of the record that

Respondents believe detract from Complainant's case. However, I disagree with
Respondents' assertion that I failed to consider the evidence that detracts from
Complainants' case and I disagree with Respondents' description of the quantity
of the evidence detracting from Complainant's case as a "plethora" of evidence.
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The Decision and Order filed November 15, 1996, describes Respondents'

evidence, as follows:

In the face of [Complainant's] evidence, Respondents have chosen
to present no contradictory evidence. They have merely adopted an
obstructionist stance, trying to pick holes in the evidence which

Complainant obtained from Respondents' own files. If this evidence were
not correct, Respondents could have introduced evidence to contradict it.

Respondents' failure to contradict this evidence leads me to conclude that
the evidence is sufficient to prove Complainant's allegations of sales,
deliveries, and failure to pay in a timely fashion. I find that Complainant
has met its burden of proof. The documentary evidence presented at the
hearing was obtained directly from the books of Respondents.
Respondents have failed to rebut this evidence. Therefore, I find the
evidence proves the allegations in the Complaint.

Although Complainant submitted voluminous exhibits, Respondents
submitted no exhibits. The only evidence presented at the hearing by
Respondents was testimony of [Mr.] Hector Paredes, a controller of"
Havana Potatoes, and [Mr.] Robert Reich, an employee of one of
Havana's [produce] suppliers.

Respondents' attorney argues.., that Mr. Koller's testimony is
devoid of credibility and no probative weight should be given to this
testimony because "Complainant can not dispute Mr. Paredes' testimony
that he does not speak English." [(Respondents' Reply Memorandum at
7.)] However, [the ALJ] found Mr. Koller to be a very credible witness,
something [the ALJ did not find] with respect to Mr. Paredes. [(Initial
Decision and Order at 10.)]

Mr. Paredes testified through an English-Spanish interpreter. He
first stated that he does not speak English but knows words that he needs
such as "accounts payable" and "accounts receivable." He has a degree
in public accounting and a degree in business administration from
Venezuelan universities. (Tr. 285, 287.) [Mr. Paredes] testified that,
when Mr. Koller visited Respondents' office in April 1995, at Mr. Perez'
request, Mr. Paredes directed Mr. Koller to Respondents' financial files,
including [their] accounts payable records. (Tr. 290, 294.) When [the
ALJ] questioned Mr. Paredes, he stated that he had been living in the
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United States for 3 years and 2 months, (Tr. 296), and that he studied
English for 3 years in secondary school, (Tr. 297-98). As a result of Mr.
Paredes' study of English for 3 years in Venezuela, his residence in the
U.S. for over 3 years, and his dealing on a daily basis with records that
were in English, [the ALJ found] that [Mr. Paredes] understood more
than enough English to direct Mr. Koller to the appropriate financial
records. [(Initial Decision and Order at 11.)]

Respondents' only other witness was Robert Reich, sales manager for
Red Hawk Farms, one of Havana's [produce suppliers]. Mr. Reich
testified regarding his belief as to what payment practices in the produce
industry as a whole are. (Tr. 442[-43.]) Mr. Reich also testified
regarding ratings of produce firms in a private publication known as
"The Blue Book." (Tr. 444-51.) This testimony is not relevant because
the law regarding payment for perishable agricultural commodities is set

out in the PACA and the regulations promulgated pursuant to the PACA.
This matter is not bound by "The Blue Book," but by the law itself. The
regulations promulgated pursuant to the PACA define prompt payment.
See 7 C.F.R. § 46.2(aa). Under the [PACA] and regulations, payment for
produce must be made within 10 days after the day on which the produce
is accepted, unless there are written payment terms, entered into prior to
the transaction, extending the time for payment.

Mr. Reich also testified that Havana had extended payment terms
with his firm and that he was sure that Havana had paid Red Hawk
Farms in a timely manner. However, Mr. Reich could not identify what
the specific payment terms were or when his company was paid. (Tr.
463, 465-67.) Respondents have not submitted any written credit
agreements with Red Hawk into evidence. Additionally, Mr. Reich was
unable to explain why, if his firm was satisfied with Havana's payment
practices, it had filed reparation complaints against Havana and notified
USDA of the insufficient funds checks that it had received from Havana

in purported payment for produce purchases. (Tr. 464.)

In re Havana Potatoes of New York Corp., supra, slip op. at 12-14.

Fifth, Respondents contend that the summaries of Respondents records
prepared by two of Complainant's witnesses, Mr. Dutton and Ms. Jervis, (CX 4,
5, 6, 7), have almost no probative value, as follows:
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7.... - - - documents specifically prepared in anticipation of
litigation - - - are, as a matter of law, the type of hearsay which is entitled
to almost no probative value.

Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration at 4.
The hearsay documents prepared by Mr. Dutton and Ms. Jervis in anticipation

of litigation, (CX 4, 5, 6, 7), are merely summaries of information obtained from
Respondents' records. Copies of Respondents' records upon which these
summaries are based were introduced into evidence, (CX 4a-4ppp, 5a-5f, 6a-6z,
7a), and a comparison of the summaries to Respondents' records on which the
summaries are based reveals that the summaries are accurate. My views as to the
admissibility of these summaries and the weight to be given these summaries are
fully explained in the Decision and Order filed November 15, 1996, In re Havana
Potatoes of New York Corp., supra, slip op. at 33-40, and Respondents have not
raised any issue in Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration that would cause me
to change my view either as to the admissibility of the summaries or the weight to
be given these summaries.

Even if I agreed with Respondents (which I do no0, and found that the
summaries are "entitled to almost no probative value," that finding would not
constitute a basis for granting Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration or
modifying the Decision and Order filed November 15, 1996, in light of the
evidence of Respondents' violations of section 2(4) of the PACA, (7 U.S.C. §
499b(4)), contained in the sellers' invoices, (CX 4a-4ppp, 5a-5f, 6a-6z, 7a), which
were obtained from Respondents' files and Mr. Dntton's and Mr. Koller's
testimony regarding their conversations with Respondents' president and
Respondent Havana's controllers.

Sixth, Respondents contend that the ALJ and the Judicial Officer give too
much weight to statements made by Respondents' president to Mr. Dutton and Mr.
Koller, as follows:

14. In addition, it is quite telling that, although both the ALJ and
the JO make much of an exit interview between U.S.D.A. marketing
specialist Donald Dutton ("Dutton") and Havana's president Pedro Perez
("Perez"), in which Perez allegedly agreed with Dntton's statement
regarding the latter's findings in terms of total dollar amount past due
(Tr. 46), the Decision completely ignores the evidence indicating the lack
of significance of such "admission". Specifically, the JO ignored the
clear fact, emphasized in Respondents' Appeal, that Dutton himself
admitted never reviewing a single invoice with Perez, or even identifying
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for Perez the invoices Dutton believed were unpaid. (Tr. 73, 85, 410,
414). Similarly, the Decision erroneously points to the testimony of John
Koller, Assistant Regional Director for the Northeast Region ("Koller"),
as proof that Perez acknowledged to Koller unpaid past due transactions.
Here too, however, Koller failed to indicate what specific transactions, if
any, he discussed with Perez, and made no attempt to recall the actual
words used in their alleged conversation.

Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration at 9-10.
I disagree with Respondents' contention that the ALJ and the Judicial Officer

give too much weight to testimony by Messrs. Dutton and Koller concerning their
discussions with Respondents' president, Mr. Perez.

The record does not reveal thateither Mr. Dntton or Mr. Koller reviewed with

Mr. Perez each of Respondents' transactions which were unpaid and past-due.
Nonetheless, the record establishes that, after their respective audits of
Respondents' past-due accounts, Mr. Dutton and Mr. Koller each discussed, with
Mr. Perez, their findings of Respondents' failures to pay produce sellers in
accordance with the PACA. The record further reveals that Mr. Perez agreed with
Mr. Dutton's and Mr. Koller's findings.

Mr. Dutton's and Mr. Koller's testimony regarding Mr. Perez's admissions is
uncontroverted and I gave Mr. Dutton's and Mr. Koller's testimony regarding Mr.
Perez's admissions considerable weight, In re Havana Potatoes of New York,
Corp., supra, slip op. at 9-12, 22-31. I do not find Mr. Dutton's or Mr. Koller's
failure to review each unpaid and past-due seller's invoice with Mr. Perez a basis
for giving Mr. Dutton's or Mr. Koller's testimony regarding their conversations
with Mr. Perez less weight than I gave to their testimony in the Decision and
Order filed November 15, 1996.

For the foregoing reasons and the reasons set forth in the Decision and Order
filed November 15, 1996, In re Havana Potatoes of New York Corp., supra,
Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration is denied.

Section 1.146(b) of the Rules of Practice, (7 C.F.R. § 1.146(b)), provides that
the decision of the Judicial Officer shall automatically be stayed pending the
determination to grant or deny a timely filed petition for reconsideration. 6
Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration was timely filed and automatically
stayed the Decision and Order filed on November 15, 1996. Therefore, since

6In re SaulsburyEnterpmes (Order Denying Petition for Reconsideration), 56 Agric. Dec., slip

op.at 28 (Jan. 29, 1997); In re AndershockFruitland, Inc. (Order Denying Petition for Reconsideration),
55 Agric. Dec. __, slip op. at 1 (Oct. 29, 1996).



ANDERSHOCK FRUITLAND, INC., and JAMES A. ANDERSHOCK 1029
56 Agric. Dec. 1029

Respondents' Petition for Reconsideration is herein denied, I hereby lift the
automatic stay and the Order in the Decision and Order filed November 15, 1996,
is reinstated, with allowance for time passed, as follows:

Order

1. Respondent Havana Potatoes of New York Corp.'s PACA license is
revoked, effective 11 days after service of this Order on Respondent Havana
Potatoes of New York Corp.

2. Respondent Havpo, Inc.'s, PACA license is revoked, effective 11 days
after service of this Order on Respondent Havpo, Inc.

3. The facts and circumstances set forth in this decision shall be published.

In re: HAVANA POTATOES OF NEW YORK CORP., AND HAVPO, INC.
PACA Docket No. D-94-0560.

Stay Order filed February 20, 1997.

Andrew Y. Stanton, for Complainant.
Tab K. Rosenfeld, New York, NY, for Respondents.
Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

The Order previously issued in this case, which would have revoked

Respondent Havana Potatoes of New York Corp.'s PACA license and Respondent
Havpo, Inc.'s PACA license, is hereby stayed pending the outcome of proceedings
for judicial review.

This Stay Order shall remain effective until it is lifted by the Judicial Officer
or vacated by a court of competent jurisdiction.

In re: ANDERSHOCK FRUITLAND, INC., AND JAMES A.

ANDERSHOCK, d/b/a AAA RECOVERY.
PACA Docket No. D-95-0531.

Stay Order filed March 4, 1997.

Timothy P- Morris, for Complainant.
Mark A. Amendola, Cleveland, OH, for Respondent.
Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.



1030 PERISHABLE AGRICULTURAL COMMODITIES ACT

On September 12, 1996, I issued a Decision and Order revoking Respondent
Andershock Fruitland, Inc.'s license issued under the Perishable Agricultural

Commodities Act, 1930, as amended (7 U.S.C. §§ 499a-499s) (hereinafter PACA);
denying Respondent AAA Recovery's application for a PACA license; and
ordering the publication of the facts and circumstances of the decision. In re

Andershock Fruitland, lnc., 55 Agric. Dec..._._, slip op. at 38 (Sept. 12, 1996).
On September 26, 1996, Respondents filed a Petition for Reconsideration, and on
October 29, 1996, I issued an Order Denying Petition for Reconsideration. In re

AndershockFruitland, lnc., 55 Agric. Dec. (Oct. 29, 1996). On December 30,
1996, Respondents filed a Petition for Review of the Order Denying Petition for
Reconsideration with the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit.
On January 22, 1997, Respondents filed a Motion for Stay of the Judicial Officer's
Order Denying Petition for Reconsideration, pending the disposition of
Respondents' Petition for Review with the United States Court of Appeals fourthe
Seventh Circuit.

Complainant did not respond to Respondents' Motion for Stay, and on March
4, 1997, the case was referred to the Judicial Officer for a ruling on Respondents'
Motion for Stay.

Respondents' Motion'for Stay is granted.
This Stay Order shall remain in effect until it is lilted by the Judicial Officer

or vacated by a court of competent jurisdiction.

In re: THE PRODUCE PLACE.
PACA Docket No. D-93-0550.

Order Lifting Stay filed March 28, 1997.

Andrew Y. Stanton, for Complainant.
Stephen P. McCarron, Washington, DC, for Respondent.
William G. Jertson, Judicial Officer.

On December 14, 1994, the Judicial Officer issued a Decision and Order

which suspends The Produce Place's (hereinafter Respondent) license under the
Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act, 1930, as amended (7 U.S.C. §§ 499A-
499s) (hereinafter PACA), for 90 days. In re The Produce Place, 53 Agric. Dec.
1715 (1994), aff'd, 91 F.3d 173 (D.C. Cir. 1996), cert denied, 117 S.Ct. 959

(1997). Respondent filed a Request for Stay pending the outcome of proceedings
for judicial review which the Judicial Officer granted on March 29, 1995. In re
The Produce Place, 54 Agric. Dec. 738 (1995). On March 11, 1997, Complainant
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filed a Motion to Lift Stay Order. On March 27, 1997, Respondent and

Complainant filed a Joint Motion to Lift Stay Order in which Complainant and
Respondent request that Respondent's 90-day license suspension take effect
commencing April 1, 1997.

Complainant's Motion to Lift Stay Order filed March 11, 1997, is denied•
Complainant's and Respondent's Joint Motion to Lift Stay Order filed March 27,
1997, is granted. The Stay Order issued March 29, 1995, In re The Produce
Place, 54 Agric. Dec. 738 (1995), is lifted, and the Order issued in In re The
Produce Place, 53 Agric. Dec. 1715 (1994), aff'd, 91 F.3d 173 (D.C. Cir. 1996),
cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 959 (1997) suspending Respondent's PACA license for 90
days is effective beginning April 1, 1997.

In re: COUNTY PRODUCE, INC.
PACA Docket No. D-94-548.

Order Lifting Stay filed May 16, 1997.

Andre Allen Vitale, for Complainant.
Harold James Piekerstein, Fairfield, Connecticut, for Respondent.

Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

On January 22, 1996, the Acting Judicial Officer filed a Decision and Order
which revokes County Produce, Inc.'s (hereinafter Respondent), license under the
Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act, 1930, as amended (7 U.S.C. §§ 499a-
499s) (hereinafter PACA). In re County Produce, lnc., 55 Agric. Dec. 596
(1996), affd, 103 F.3d 263 (2d Cir. 1997). Respondent filed a Motion for Stay
Pending Appellate Review which the Judicial Officer granted on March 5, 1996.
In re County Produce, lnc., 55 Agfic. Dec. 617 (1996) (Stay Order). On April 29,
1997, Complainant filed a Motion to Lift Stay Order• On May 13, 1997,

•Respondent filed a Response to Motion to Lift Stay Order stating that Respondent
has no objection to Complainant's Motion to Lift Stay Order.

Complainant's Motion to LiR Stay Order filed April 29, 1997, is granted. The
Stay Order issued March 5, 1996, In re County Produce, Inc., 55 Agric. Dec. 617
(1996), is lifted. The Order issued inln re County Produce, lnc., 55 Agric. Dec.
596 (1996), affd, 103 F.3d 263 (2d Cir. 1997), revoking Respondent's PACA
license and requiring the publication of the facts and circumstances set forth in the
Decision and Order filed in this proceeding on January 22, 1996, is effective on

the 30th day after service on Respondent of this Order Lifting Stay.
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In re: PATRICIA LARSON.
PACA Docket No. APP 96-0005

Dismissal and Order Canceling Hearing filed March 10, 1997.

JaneMcCavitt,forComplainant.
StephenThomas,Peoria,IL,forRespondent.
DismissalissuedbyEdwinS. Bernstein,AdministrativeLawJudge. .

In a Motion filed March 7, 1997, by Attorney for Complainant, the P.A.C.A.
Branch Chiefs responsibly connected determination against Patricia Larson,
which is the subject matter of this appeal, has been deemed moot. As a result, the
parties hereby request that the above-captioned matter be dismissed. Upon good
cause shown, Complainant's motion to dismiss is granted and the hearing
scheduled to commerce on March 12, 1997, in Peoria, Illinois, is hereby canceled.

In re: STELLA AMERIAN and JOHN JANIGAN.
PACA Docket No. APP-96-0008.

Dismissal filed May 5, 1997.

JaneMcCavitt,forComplainant.
DuanoM.GeckandOregoryC.Nuti,SanFrancisco,CA,forRespondents.
Orderissuedby VictorW.PalmerChiefAdministrativeLawJudge.

On the basis of the Withdrawal of Petition, the petition is hereby dismissed.
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(Notpublishedherein-Editor)
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Reddish Enterprises, Inc. PACA Docket No. D-97-0011. 1/2/97.

M. Miqueli & Co., Inc. PACA Docket No. D-97-0012. 1/14/97.

Amerian Brother, Inc. PACA Docket No. D-96-0518. 5/5/97.




